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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

William Parker ,
Plaintiff,
V. Civil No. 1:14-cv-01634 (APM)

National Railroad Passenger Corporation,
d/b/a Amtrak ,

Defendant.

N PRSI AN S RN

MEMORANDUM OPINION

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Willam Parkeffiled this lawsuit against hiormeremployer,Defendant National
Rairoad Passenger Corporation (“Amtrgkglleging discriminatory treatment in violation of
42 U.S.C. § 1981 andthe District of Columbia Human Rights Act, D.C. Code § 14.@t.$eq
Plaintiff—an AfricarAmerican police officer who worked in the AmtralPolice Canine Unit—
asserts that Defendatetrminatedhis employment on the basis li§ race. Defendant disagrees
and instead asssthat it had a legtimate neliscriminatory reasonto terminatehim—namely,
that Plaintiff hadengaged in unethical behavior and then lied to Amtrak investigators about his
conduct

This matter is before the court on Defendant's Motion for Summary JudgmentingH

reviewed the pleadings and evidence, the court finds that no reasonable juraocoiude that
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Defendant discriminated against Plaintiff wheterminatedhis employment. Accordingly, the
court grants Defendant’s Moticlor Summary Judgment.
. BACKGROUND

A. Factual Background

In 2007, Amtrak hired Plaintiff to serve as a Capfaithe Amtrak Police Department’s
(APD) Canine Unit Def.’s Stmt. of Facts in Supp. of Mot. for Summ. J., ECF No-229
[hereinafter Def.’sStmt.], 1 1; Pl.’s Stmt. of Facts in Supp. of Opp’n of Def.’s MotSomm. J.,
ECF No. 342 [hereinafter Pl.’s Stmt.], at 19,1 After serving in this role for approximately four
years, Plaintiff was promoted to Inspeetea managemesevel positior—where he was
responsible for overseeing, supervising, and training other Canine Unit offideef.’s Stmt.
112-3; Pl’s Stmt. at 12 2.

In September 2011, both the APD’s Office of Internal Affdilatérnal Affairs'’) and the
Amtrak Office of the mspector General‘QIG”) received anonymous complaints concerning
Plaintiff. Def.’s Stmt.]112, 22. Internal Affairs and OIG are distinct offices within Amtrak and
have separate investigative authorityl.  23. The complaints alleged, among othengh, that
Plaintiff co-owned a property in Maryland (the “Property”) with a subordinate officgarah
Bryant—with whom he was romantically involved and that, as a result of thatioredhip, he was
impermissibly steering overtime funds to Bryalt. 116, 22. Internal Affairsand OIG launched
separate investigations into those allegations, which included intengiemtinesses and gathering

evidence from the public recordd. 11 12-27.

! Plaintiff also filed numerous additional proceduralimos related to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment.
The court describes those motions in the Procedural Hisédoy and willaddress themafter it considers the meris
of Defendant’s dispositive motion.



1. Internal Affairs’ Investigation

Three months later, in &ch 2012,Internal Affairs concluded its inquiry and issued its
Report of Investigation [fiternal Affairs Report”). Internal Affairs found that the allegations
against Plaintiff were “not sustained” by the record and closed the gatesii without takg
any significant adverse employment actidd. 1 19; Pl’s Stmt. at 157 19. Internal Affairsdid
send Plaintiff a Letter of Counseling advising him to avoid acting in vieysight lead to future
potenial appearances of improprietypef.’sStmt. 20-21; P1.’s Stmt. at 1816, § 20; P1l’s Opp'n,
Ex. 6, Investigative Report from Adrienne R. Rish to Lisa Shahade and\iiarmann, ECF
No. 296 [hereinafter OIG Report], at 3

Not everyone within Internal Affairs, however, agreed with the outcome aitifPlai
investigation.  Officer Linda Dixon, the head of Internal Affairs at tinee tiand the lead
investigator's immediate supervisor, dissented from the decision not to holtffPhccountable
and refused to sign the final IntatnAffairs Report. Pl’s Stmtat 7, 1 26. Internal Affairs
nonetheless issued its Repand, on April 19, 2012, Officer Dixon sent a memo to the-thed
Chief of Police, expressing her disagreement withrttegnal AffairsRepat’s conclusions. Def.’s
Stmt. I 28; OIG Report at 3. According to Plaintiff, Dixon then circumvented B &hain of
command and raised her dissatisfaction about the Internal Affairs Riepotly with OIG. Pl.’s
Stmt. at 7,926-30. The record does not reveal Dixon's specififections to Internal Affairs’
findings.

2. OIG’s Investigation

Meanwhile, OIG’s parallel investigation into Plaintiff's conduct contihueoncluding six

months later and reaching a far different conclusion than Internakrgff@in October 12, 2012,

OIG issued arnnvestigative Repori(‘the OIG Report”’), finding that the allegations against



Plaintiff were in fact sustained by the evidence. The OIG Report foundthiatiff and his
subordinate, Officer Bryant, jointy owned the Property and thamtiflehad given preferential
treatment in giving assignments to Bryant and others whom he had hired, whitddriesgiteater
overtime pay for those employees. OIG Report at-3412The OIG Report also concluded that
Plaintiff (1) had intentionally misled both OIG and Internal Affairs stgators, and (2) had
submitted false tax documents in connection with his purchase of the Propegyeitial
violation of Maryland law.Id. at 514.

OIG submitted its report to the APD’s Acting Chief of Pmlit the time Lisa Shahade.
After reviewing the reportShahadderminated Plaintiff fom his position. Def.’s Stmf]{53-54;

Id., Ex. J, Declaration of Lisa Shahade, ECF Nel29hereinafter Shahade Decl], § 13

B. Procedural Background

1. Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment

On September 30, 2014, Plaintfiled sutt in this court, keging (1) discrimination in
violation of the District of Columbia Human Rights Act, D.C. Code § 14.61<deq(Count 1);
and (2) discrimination in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981 (Count 3ee generallzompl.

On October 23, 2015, following discovery, Defendant fled a Motion for Summary
Judgment, in which it argued that it had terminated Plaintiff for anegi# nordiscriminatory
reasor—specificdy, his acts of misconduct and deceit, as detailed in the OIG Report.
SeeggenerallyDef.’s Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for Summ. Judg, ECF No. 29 [hereinafter Mbt.].

On December 24, 2015, Plaintiff filedis Opposition to Defendant’'s Motion for Summary
Judgment, claiming that Defendant’s proffered-dscriminatory reason for terminatirigm was

a pretext for discrimination. See generalli?l.’'s Opp’n to Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J., ECF No. 34



[hereinafter Pl.’s Opp’'n].On January 27, 2016, Defendant filed a Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition.
See Def.’s Reply in Supp. of Mot. for Summ. J., ECF No. 41 [hereinafteis Reply].
2. AdditionalMotions

In addition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, a host of procedural snotion
fled by Plaintiff arebefore the court. On January 8, 2016, Plaintiff fled a “Motion to Defen&ul
on Defendant’'s Motion for Summary Judgment Pending Additional Discovery,” in wigch
requested leave to take additional discovemamely, the depositions of the current AEBief
of Police Polly Hanson and a thirgparty investigator for the Laurel Police Department,
JohnSuperson.See generalli?l.’s Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to Defer Summ. J. for Add'| Discovery,
ECF No. 371 [hereinafter Pl.’s Mot. to Defer Summ. JDeferdantopposed Plaintiff's request
to re-open the recordSeegenerallyDef.’sOpp’n to Pl.’s Mot. to Defer Summ.., ECF No. 39.
The court wil addressthe claimed relevance of the proposeddditional discoveryin the
Discussion section below.

On February 8, 2016, Plaintiff filed a “Motion for Leave to File a Surrepkpposition
to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment,” seeking to supplement the rettoevigence
regarding Defendant’s alleged failure to produce records relating to thaé@fgation during
discovery. See generalli?l.’s Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to File Surreply, ECF No:#thereinafter
Pl’s Mot. for Surreply]. Defendant opposed that motion, as vi@ele generallypef.’s Opp’n to
PI's Mot. for Surreply, ECF No. 50.

On August 3, 2016, Plaintiff fled a third motion entitled “Motion to Supplemdwet t
Record on Summary Judgment,” which sought te—fds an additonal exhibit to Plaintiff’s
Oppositior—an investigation repoppreparedby John Superson.See generallf?l.’s Mem. in

Supp. of Mot. to Suppl. the Record on Summ. J., ECF Na. [béreinafter Pl.’s Mot. to Suppl.].



Defendant opposed that motion, tdéee generallyDef.’s Opp’nto PI's Motto Suppl., ECF No.
57.

Finally, on August 31, 2016, Plaintiff fleé “Motion for Leave to Fie Certificate of
Authenticity of Records,” which concerned the proposed Supeegpamt See generallyl.’s Mot.
to Incl. Cert. of Records, ECF No. 60. Having already opposed the motion taadghibit to
the record, Deferaiht also opposed the fiing of the certificate of authenticiye generallpef.’s
Opp’'n toPl.’s Mot. to Incl. Cert. of Record&CFNo. 61
. LEGAL STANDARD

Summary judgment will only be granted if the movant can show that “there is nagenui
dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgisemimatter of law.” Fed. R.
Civ. P.56(a). A dispute is “genuine” only if a reasonable-fiader could find for the nonmoving
party, while afactis “material’ only if it is capalié affecting the outcome of litigationAnderson
v. Liberty Lobby, Ing477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)A nonmaterial factual dispute is insufficient to
prevent the court from granting summary judgmelat.

Rule 56 “mandates the entry of summary judgmerfiier adequate time for discovery and
upon motion, against a party who fails to make a showing sufficient toigsttig existence of
an element essential to that party’s caseon which that party will bear the burden of proof at
trial.” Celotex @rp. v. Catrett477 U.S. 317, 3223 (1986). The party moving for summary
judgment “bears the initial responsibility of informing the district cofithe basis for its motion”
and identifying those portions of the record that it believes “demonstrate thealb$a genuine
issue of material fact.’ld. at 323.

Once the moving party has made an adequate showing that a fact cannot be disputed, t

burden shifts to the party opposing summary judgment to “set forth specificsfavtdng that



there is a genuine issue for trial.Anderson477 U.S. at 25@footnote omitted) (citation and
internal quotation marks omitted). The nonmoving party may oppose the motion usmngof“a
the kinds of evidentiary materials listed in Rule 56(c), excepntre pleadings themselves, and
it is from this list that one would normally expect the nonmoving party to nieksehowing to
which [the Court has] referredCelotex Corp, 477 U.S. at 324. “The evidence of the-nmovant
is to be believed, and all jifble inferences are to be drawn in his favoAhderson477 U.S.
at 255 (citation omitted). However, “to defeat a motion for summary judgrtleninoAmoving
party must offer more than mere unsupported allegations or deni@®fmu v. District of
Columbia 795 F. Supp. 2d 7, 17 (D.D.C. 2011) (cit@glotex477 U.S. at 324). In other words,
if the nonmovant’'s evidence is “merely colorable” or “not significantly probativeyimmary
judgment may be grantednderson477 U.S. at 2480 (citations omitted) Summary judgment,
then, is appropriate when the nonmoving party fails to offer “evidence on which theojuig/
reasonably find for the [nemovant].” Id. at 252.
V. DISCUSSION

Acting Chief Shahade’s decision to fire Plaintiff fosnthe basis of the parties’ dispute.
Plaintiff asserts that Defendant's proffered reason for terminatimg vas a pretext for
discrimination He primarily contendghat Dixon—the disgruntledinternal Affairs head who
dissented fromnternal Affairs’ nonaction againstPlaintiff—was racially biased andhat her
racially-motivated complainto OIG was the true motivatingactor for his termination. Plaintiff’s
theory put another wayis that Dixors racial animus so infected tl@lG investigation process
that Shahade’s decision to fir@laintiff, regardless of whether she hdfrseas racially biased
against him must be considered the product of race discriminatiét.’s Opp’'n, at 11, 120.

Plaintiff also asserts as further evidence of pretext that the @& ot similarly discipline



Dixon—who alsohad been accused of engaging in an inappropriate relationship with another APD
Officer—because shis white. 1d. at 78.

Defendant, on the other hand, denies tBaton's limited involvement inthe OIG
investgation had any material impact or influence oroicome It further asserts that the OIG
investigation was proceduraly sound and entirely independent fropathdel Internal Affairs
investigation. Def.’s Motat 1618 Defendant als@ontests Piatiff’'s assertion that Dixon was
treated differently from Plaintiff because she is whie. at 1416.

The court now turns to these arguments.

A. The Cat's Paw Argument

Plaintiff assertghat hisdiscrimination claims arbasedorimarily on “a combinabn of a
cat’s paw theory and circumstantial evidence of racial discriminatiét.’s Opp’n at 19. Under
what is known as “cat's paw theory of discrimination “an employer may be held liable for
discriminatory acts by a direct superviseeven where that supervisor is not the final
decisionmaker—if the supervisor's discrimatory acts or opinions infecthe employment
decision to such an extent that tfieal decisionmakeris effectively the “conduit” for the
supervisor’sdiscrimination Morris v. McCarthy 825 F.3d658,663 (D.C. Cir. 2016).

Here, Plaintiff blames Dixeathe therhead ofinternal Affairs? who refusedo signthe
Internal Affairs Report anthencomplained to OIG abouhe decision not to take action against
him—for his plight. He contends that Dixon was racially biased and tie&tracemotivated
complaint so infected the OIG investigation process #ahade-the final decisionmake+

becameahe conduit for Dixon’sdiscrimination Pl’s Opp’'n, at 11, 120. Plaintiff offersthree

2 Although Dixon was not Plaintiff's supervisor, the coured@ot decide, for reasons that will become apparent,
whether a cat’'s pawtheory can apply to a-sgpervisory employee who, as here, is alleged to haversetion an
investigation that ultinzly leads taheterminationof another employee
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pieces of evidence in suppat his theory: (1) an affidavitfrom an Amtrak employee who had
years earlierwitnessedixon on televisionrefuseto shake thenisidentelect Barack Obama’s
hand, Pl.’s Opp'n &9; (2) affidavits from Amtrak employees detaiing rumors tHaikon was
having an affair with another APD officevho wasopenly racistid. at 78; and (3) deposition
testimony fromanother litigation in which Dixon admitted tobypassingthe APD chain of
command whemshe complained to Ol@bout the outcome dhe Internal Affairs investigation
id. at 1:12.

In order to prevail on a cat’'s paw theory, a plaintiff must demongtrate[1] a supervisor
perform[ed] an act motivated by [discriminatory animus], [2] that [washiméd by the supervisor
to cause an adverse employment action, and . . . [3] that act is a peoximage of the ultimate
employment actiofi Staub v. Proctor Hosp562 U.S. 411422 (2011) OurCourt of Appeals
has made it cler, however, that biased supervisor'sndirect or limited involvement in an
employment decision is not enough sustain a cat's paw theory.urmary judgmentfor the
employeris appropriate, for instanceshen theultimate decision to terminate was the product of
an independent investigationSeeHampton v. Vilsack685 F.3d 1096, 11602 (D.C. Cir. 2012)
(rejecting cat’'s paw liability where thbiased supervisofwas in no way involved in the
investigatim of [the plaintiff's misconduct” and the deciding official had “conducted an
independent review of the evidence'Qn the other hand, if the evidence shows that the deciding
official is “dependen[t] upon [a biased subordinate’s] opinion” and is “[unatiEpendently to
assess” the basis for sanctioning the employee, then summary judgment rmpkheies favor

must be deniedGriffin v. Washington Convention Ct42 F.3d 1308, 13112 (D.C. Cir. 1998)



Accordingly, to be successfillere Plaintiff must presentevidence from which a
reasonablguror could infer that Dixon was both racially biased against Plaintiff thatl as a
result, she materially influence&hahades decision to terminate PlaintiffPlaintiff fails todo so.

First, the evidace on the record simply does not support an inference that @xsaven
racially biased towardBlaintiff. The fact that Dixon did not shake the Presigdatt's hand,
without more,is plainly insufficient tosustain an inferencinat Dixon was motivéed by racial
animus toward®laintiff. Refusing ® shake the hand of the first Africekmerican President does
not necessarily makeixon a racist; she simply may have disagreed with his poltics or not liked
him for some other reasorsee e.g., ShawMcHugh No. 12CV-6834 CS, 2015 WL 1400069,
at *10 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 26, 2016) (statements tha plaintiff was “going to vote for Obama
because he’s your kind” did not support aninference of racial bias). In anysadmgmbiguous
behavior thats canpletely disconnectedrom the challenged employmeractioncannot give rise
to an inference of racial animusSeeKalekiristos v. CTF Hotel Mgmt. Corp958 F. Supp. 641,
666 (D.D.C.1997% (holding that even overtly racist statements made without “arlclea
demonstrated nexus to the adverse employment action atissue are not &test gafwithstand
a motion for summary judgment”).

Plaintiff's evidence that Dixda rumored workplace paramour, Ed Thornton, was an overt
racist fares no better. Suevidence does not establish that Dixon herself was a racist.eyam,
if Thornton’s racism could be somehow imputed to Dixon, Plaintiff has comeafd with no

evidence thaDixon's complaint toOIG wasracially motivated Thus, Plaintiff has failedo
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provide evidence to sustain the first element of his cat's paw theory: that Biemtions were
motivated by discriminatory animus.

Second, angerhaps most important for present purppgdaintiff does notprovide any
evidence that Dixon had any influeneghatsoeveon Shahade’s decision to terminate Plaintiff
SeeHampton 685 F.3dat 110202 There is no dispute that Shahade based her decision to
terminate Plaintiff on the findings of the OIG Repoi. asworn affidavit Shahadestated “All
told, based on my assessment of the OIG Report, which | had no reason to aquedtiabt in
any way, | made the determination that Mr. Parker’'s employment should leatedhi Shahade
Decl. 9 id. § 13(staing that Shahade “made the determination that Mr. Parker’'s employment

LT

should be terminated” “in reliance on the OIG reportShahade explained th@&arker's false
statements and omissions to investigators . . . violated several impantdratk and AP Dpolicie s
and proceduresd. 1 10; that “Parker’s reported dishonesty and lack of cdmgus] particularly
troubling given his rank and status within the APIQ,"] 11;andthat “Parker’s false statements
and omissions irreparably damaged his abilityfutiill his duties as an APD officer,” including
his abilty to servasa potential testifying witnesg]. § 12. Plaintiff offers no evidencéo indicate
that Shahadélid not infactrely on the OIG Report, or thahewasmotivated by racial animusn
any way and thusconcedeghat Shahade did not terminate him due to her @agial animus.
SeePl.’s Stmt. at 2324, | 5155.

Nor hasPlaintiff offered any evidence that would creatgeauine dispute of fact about the
independence of the Ol@vestigationand Shahade’s reasonable reliance on its findifjaintiff
asserts that Dixonwas clearly in a position to influence&IG*“to take up the matter of allegations

already found ‘norsustained’ by her own Office of Internal AffaitsPl.’'s Opp’'n at 19. The

record however,does not support Plaintiffosition Instead, itestablshes that th®IG
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investigation hadactualy commencedefore the Internal Affairs Report issued Defendant
presented uncontested eviderde the form of an affidavit from th®IG officer in chargeof that
investigation, Renee Jacksewho attested that, on September 30, 2@ had received an
anonymous complaint about Plaintiff's conduct, and that she “opened an investigatiieo the
matter on January 24, 2012 six weeks before Internal Affairs issued its Repédiat which point
[she] began to conduct preliminary resdgwaand gather background information.” Def.’s Mot.,
Ex. K, Decl of Renee Jackson, ECF No.-P9 [hereinafter Jackson Decl.]f 8, 5. The only
evidence that Plaintiffoffers to establishthat Dixon was responsible fostarting the OIG
investigation issworndeposition testimonyiven by her inanother nonrelatedcase But in that
testimony Dixon acknowledgethat she complained 101G afterInternal Affairshad cleared
Plaintiff.3 SeePl’s Opp’n at 1112; id., Ex. 15,Anderson v. AmtrakDepositionof Linda Dixon,
ECF No0.34-18, at 6567. Thus, the timing simply does not add.ug\nd Plaintiff has provided
no other evidence to supporhis contention thatDixon influenced OIG to “take up” the
investigation of Plaintiff

Furthermore, there is no genuine dispws to Dixon's limited role in the OIG
investigation. According t®Renee Jacksoshe first learned of thimternal Affairsinvestigation
in June 2012 and thereafter spoke to Dixon “about the scope and statuglotetimal Affairg
investigation.” Jackson Decl. T 11That conversationJackson attesteddid not influence my
investigative focus andixon] certainly did not impact the investigation’s results.OIG carried
out its own investigation, gatherésl own evidence, and conducted its omterviews.” I1d. T 12.

The OIG Reporitself corroboratedackson’s statement, as it refers only once to Bixbmotes

3 Defendanturges the court to deeminadmissible Dixon’ssign fromthe other case under Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 32(a)(8). Def.’s Reply at 10. The court nee@aohithat issuégrevermassumingthe prior deposition's
admissibility, it fails to create a genuine dispute of material fact

12



that she sent a memo to th€hief O’Connor—but otherwise relies exclusively on witness
interviews and public records to draw its conclusior®ee generallpIG Report. Plaintiffoffers
no evidence to contradict Jackson’s stateme8esePl.’s Stmt. at23 § 51;27, 1173-74. Thus,
this is not a case in whicthe decisionmaker was “dependenfipon [a biased subordinate’s]
opinion” and “[unable] independently to assess” the basis for sanctioning the emply&e,
142 F.3d at 1311.Plaintiff's cat's paw theory is simply unsupported by any credible record
evidence.

B. Other Evidence ofDiscrimination

As noted, Plaintiff asserts that his discrimination claimsbased on “a combination of a
cat’s paw theory and circumstantial evidence of racial discrimmatidl.’s Opp’n at 19. Among
the “circumstantial evidencethat Plaintiff offersis: (1) the “unprecedented” nature of the OIG
investigation and othempurportedproblems with the investigation(2) thatother similarly situated
white officerswere treated more favorably; and (Bat Amtrak discriminated againstnother
seniorlevel AfricanAmerican officer. Id. at 620. None of this evidencdowevergives rise to
an inference of pretext.

1. The OIG Investigation

Plaintiff claims thatvarious aspects of th®IG investigation constituteevidence of
discrmination. First, Plaintiff presentseveral affidavitsasserting thaDIG's effective override
of Internal Affairswas unprecedentedPl.’s Opp'n, Ex. 12District of Columbia Office of Human
Rights Interviews Transcripts of Derrick White, James Cookl Bhil A. Arnold, ECF No. 345,
at 56, 8, 11 Healsoargues thaDIG'’s investigation was an “outright violation of policy,"as
outined inaMarch 27, 2012Memorandum of UnderstandingOU) between OIG anthternal

Affairs. Pl’s Opp’n at 20jd., Ex. 13, Wiliam Parker’s Confidential Sup@imt. of FactECF

13



No. 36 [hereinafter Pl’s Suppl. Stmt.] Finaly, Plaintiff contends that OIG committed
“[w]holesale violations of fundamental tenants of investigative wonki¢hshat those violations
alonegive to an inference of pretext. Pl’s Opp’n at Hach of Plaintiff's arguments falls apart
upon closer inspection.

To begin, the supposedly unprecedented nature of the OIG investigation insthidoea
not give rise to an inference of disunatory motive. At a minimum, here is a factual dispute as
to whether OIG's parallel investigation of Plaintiff wiagly unprecedented.Seee.g, Jackson
Decl. 11 (“OIG and APD sometimes conduct parallel investigatimasticularly when it
concernsmatters involving the [APD].”). But even if was unprecedented, that fact, without
more, does not give rise to an inference of discrimination. Had Plaitéffnpted to show, for
example, that OIG has not conducted parallel investigations whemnlginitaated white officers
have engaged in similar conduct, Plaintiff might then have succeededlisbity pretext.See
Burley v. Nat Passenger Rail Corp801 F.3d 290, 301 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (“A plaintiff can
establish pretext masking a discrimiory motive by presentingevidence suggesting that the
employer treated other employees of a different racemore favorably in the same factual
circumstance$.) (citaton omitted). But he made no effort to make such a showing here.
Moreover, givea thatOIG found thatPlaintiff hadlied to Internal Affairs—impacting Internal
Affairs’ decision not to discipline him-it is hardly surprising thais parallel investigation resulted
in his firing. While it may be true that Plaintiff’'s discipline wasisual—even the first of its
kind—that fact alone in this case does not create a genuine dispute o fadtis employer’s
motive for firing him.

Next, the MOUthatOIG supposediyiolated did not become effectiwentil three months

afterOlGinitiated its investigation Pl.’s Suppl. Stmtat 2 Thus, it is unclear whethéne MOU
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wasevenbinding on OIG at the timé investigated Plaintiff In any event, contrary to Plaintiff’s
contention, the MOpecifically authorize OIG to undertaken investigation of the kind that it
did here.The MOUgrants “OIG [] jurisdiction to conduct investigations of police misconduct .
. involv[ing] any complaint of serious misconduct . . . [including] [b]ribeafugiies, conflicts of
interest and othefAmtrak] standards of conduct violations.fd. at 5. Plaintiff's alleged conduct
ungquestinably falls within the categoried investigations concerning “conflicts of interests” and
“standards of conduct violatiofis Thus, contrary to Plaintiff's contéon, the MOU actually
grantedOIG the authority to undertakts parallel investigation.

Plaintiff further contends that OIG violatethe MOU because it failed to consult with
Internal Affairsbefore issuing its Reportd. at 3. This argument also misses the madithough
Plaintiff contendsthat “[tlhere is nothing in the record showing any . . . consultation with /APD
id., he does ngbresentany facts demonstrating that that Cd&uallyfailedto consult with APD
or Internd Affairs. Thatevidentiaryburden falls on Plaintiff under Ruls6. Anderson477 U.S.
at 250 Further, even if the court were fimd that the MOU require®IG consultwith Internal
Affairs, such a procedural violatiomould not establish discriminatp intent, especially in light
of a recordthat is otherwise devoid of evidence of discriminatory animBsady v. Office of
Sergeant at Arm$20 F.3d 490, 9B-A (D.C. Cir. 2008)(holding that on summary judgment in
a race discrimination caghe court must review the record as a whole in order to determine
whether “the employee [has] produced sufficient evidence for a reasongbte jurd that the
employer’s asserted naliscriminatory reason was not the actual reason and that the employer
intentiondly discriminated against themployee on the basis of race”).

Finally, Plaintiff argueshatOGI committed fw]holesale violationsof fundamental tenets

of investigative work,” which give rise to an inference of discriminatidt.’'s Opp’n at 20.
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Although it is trughat an‘employer’s investigation that is so unsystematic and incomplete that a
factfinder could conclude that the employer sought, not to discover the truth, lowetoup its
own discrimination can also permit a factfinder to find pgteBurley, 801 F.3dat296, Plaintiff
hasfailed to establishany deficiency in OIG’s investigation.He appears to contend that the
“fundamental” flaw of OIG’s investigation was thatfai[ed] to record and preserve interviews
or even to document the opening of [its] investiggtiowhich he characterizes as thallmarks
of an unprofessional operation.Pl’s Opp’nat 10. But Plaintiff has presented no evidence to
support that claim.For example, Plaintiff provides no testimony from OIG’'s laagstigator,
Renee Jackson, demonstrating that OIG’s investigation was flaweslways that he claims. Nor
has he supported his claim with any expert testimiongimply saying the investigation was
fundamentally flawed does not make it so. In siigintiff has failed to show that any aspect of
the OIG investigation negates or undermines Defendant’sneuteal explanation for his firing.
2. Comparators

Plaintiff also attempts to demonstrate pretext through “comparator” negdevhereby a
plaintiff can demonstrate an employerdscriminatory intent “by citing the employer's better
treatment of similarly situateémployees outside the plaintiff's protedtgroug. Walker v.
Johnson798 F.3d 1085, 1092 (D.C. Cir. 2015)o succeed under th&gpproacha plaintiff must
affirmatively demonstrate “the similarity of the plaintiff's and théative comparator’s jobs and
job duties, whether they were disciptd by the same supervisoand, in cases involving
discipline, the similarity of their offensesBurley, 801 F.3dat301 (citihg Coleman vDonaloe

667 F.3d 835, 8487 (7th Cir. 2012).

“ Part of the reason that Plaintiff is unable to show anyifilaOIG's investigation is thatedid not obtain the
underlying investigative recorddtiscovery.SeeDef.’s Reply, Ex M, Decl. of Matthew J. Sharbaugh, ECF Ne. 59
2, 91 39.
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Plaintiff's argumentregarding comparators ders only on Dixon and her aleged
workplace affair withOfficer Thomton> According to Plaintiff, Dixon and Thornton carriedn
an ilicit relationship ananisusedAmtrak funds but were neither investigated nor disciplined by
Amtrak because thegrewhite. Pls’ Opp’n at 7(alluding to “the couple’s open behavior and lack
of any consequences in their employment at Amtrak”). Dixon and Thornton, howaweo} be
considered comparators to Plaintiff because they faihtisfythe “same supervisortequirement
The record is clear that Plaintiff was disciplned by Lisa Shahade anDikdom and Thanton
were disciplined by Polic&€hief Polly Hanson Def.’s Stmt. {{ 51, 68.Moreover, Plaintiff is
incorrect that Dixon and Thornton were not discgdinfor their misconduct. Like Plaintiff, they
too were terminatedld. §67-69. Thus, Plaintiff fails to make the required showing gopport
his comparator theorySeeBurley, 801 F.3cat 301

3. “Me Too” Evidence

Plaintiff also asks the court to infer pretext orelatedtheory thathere is “evidence of a
similar discriminatory scheme against Deputy Chief Keven Gray efftectbs the [OIG] Pl.’s
Opp’'n at 20. While courts may considevidence of discriminadn against other employees to
support an inference of pretant certain contextsSprint/United Mgmt. Co. v. Mendelsqlbs2
U.S. 379, 3B (2008) courts haveheld this type ofevidence—so-caled “me to” evidence—to be
probative ofan employer’s discrimatory intentonly if the plaintiff can demonstrate thatutsh
past discriminatory behavior by the employer is close in time to the evasgsi@in the casthe

same decisionmakemgere involved, the withess and the plaintiff were treated in a similar manner,

® Plaintiff originally identified a third potential commor—Inspector Maureen Powetsluring discovery, Def’s
Mot. at 1314; Def.’s Stmt.{ 59, but, as Plaintifhas failed to respond to Defendant's arguments re ggirdinvers,

the court will treat them as concede&@ke Wilkins v. Jacksorb0 F. Supp. 2d 160, 162 (D.D.C. 2010) (“Itis well
established that if a plaintiff fails to respond to aruangnt raised in a motion for summary judgment, it is properto
treat thatargumentas concededsikes v. Dudas§73 F. Supp. 2d 191, 202 (D.D.C. 2008) (“[W]hen a party responds
to some butnot allarguments raised on a Motion for Summegndnt, a court may fairly & the unacknowledged
arguments as conceded.”).
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and the witness and the plaintiff were otherwise simiarly situatédiskey v. Hochber@23 F.
Supp. 2d 229, 233 (D.D.C. 201®ee als@print 552 U.Sat385 (2008) Hendricks v. Geithme
568 F.3d 1008, 1010 (D.C. Cir. 2009)

Plaintiff's argumenthat Gray's treatment supplies evidence to support his discriminatory
treatmentails for a number of reasong-irst, Plaintiff and Gray were not terminated by the same
individual Plaintiff was terminated by Acting Chief of Police Shahade, whereas Gray was
terminated by her successor, Chief of Police Poly HanSeePl’s Opp’n, Ex. 5, Affidavit of
Keven Gray, ECF No. 38, 125-26. SecondGray was terminated nearly one year afte nifiti
Id. Third, Gray was not simiarly situated to Plaintfin fact, he was Plaintiff’'simmediate
supervisor 1d. § 7. And, finally, Plaintiff was found to have engaged far more egregious
conduct tharGray. Hewas found to have lied tmternal Affairsinvestigators and engaged in
conduct that arguably violated state lawghereas Gray was accused of receiving outside
compensation for working witta high school football program Id. 1 23-24. Accordingly,
Plaintiffs “me too” evidencealso fails to raise an inference of pretesdfficient to survive
summary judgment

C. Plaintiffs Remaining Motions

The court now turns tthe remaining motiondiled by Plaintiff.

1. Motion for Additional Discovery

Plantiff's Rule 56(d) Motion for Addtional Discoveryastks the court to defer ruling on
Defendant’'s Motion for Summary Judgment so that Plaintiff can depose ChiedrHandJohn
Superson, a retired police officer from Howard County, Maryland, who conduckgrband
checks.Pl.’s Mot. to Defer Summ. Jat 23. The need for their testimony, Plaintiff argues, arises

from his recent discovery of a statement Hans@aeto Superson. Former Amtrak Deputy Chief
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Gray now has a position with the police department in Laurel, Maryland. Sopsasducted
Gray’s background checkSupersorsupposedly toldGray that Chief Hanson had told Superson
that shgChief Hansonhad “two commandefswho “had desks” in OIG’s officewho she had
terminatel. 1d., Aff. of John Racin, ECF No. 3, at 2. Plaintiff believesthat Hanson’s reference
to “two commanders” only could mean Dixon and Thornton. Plaintgifv says that he needs to
depose Hanson and Superson‘dbow that Ms. Dixon and Mr. Thornton were in even better
position to influence the course @bents in the [OIG] than the record shows otherwise.” Pl.’s
Mot. to Defer Summ. Jat 23.

The court denies Plaintiff’'s motion because Plaintiff did not exerciseethgsite degree
of diigence required under Rule 56(d) during the discovery peridseel.S. ex rel. Folliard v.
Gov't Acquisitions, In¢764 F.3d 19, 26, n. 5 (D.C. Cir. 2034 district court may find the nen
movants diigence relevant to the requirement that themowant ‘explain why he could not
produce the facts in opposition to the motiom $ammary judgmerit) (quoting Convertino v.
DOJ, 684 F.3d 93, 9900 (D.C. Cir. 2012). Plaintiff had the opportunityin discovery to obtain
from Dixon the information that he now indirectly seeks from Hanson and Supersbhe ailed
to depose Dixon during the discovery peridsleeOrder DenyingP laintiff’'s Motion for Leave to
Conduct Additional Depositions, ECF No..23The court wil not defer ruling on summary
judgment so that Plaintiff can obtain evidence that he easily bawid obtained through diigence

during the discovery pericd.

¢ Additionally, Plaintiff has not sufficiently demongted how Hanson or Superson could supply evidence that is
“necessaryto the litigation.Converting 684 F.3d at 99. Hansonwas not involved in PE&termination and so
hertestimony would shed no light on Dixon’s and Thortonis in OIG's investigation. Supersonis even far more
removed, as his proposed testimony would only concern wéas ¢h supposedly told him.
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2. Motion for Leave to File a Surreply

Plaintiff seeks to file @&urreply to respond to Amtrak’s contention & @pposition that
OIG “created an investigative file and documented its witness intexvitwing its work on the
case.” Pl’s Mot. for Surrephat 1. According to Plaintiff,pased on Defendant’s discovery
responsedie was under the impressitimat suchinvestigative informationdid not exist See id.

The court denies leave to file the surregeeBanner Health v. Sebeliud)5 F. Supp. 2d
174, 187 (D.D.C. 2012} [S]urreplies are generally disfavored . and the determination as to
whether to grat or deny leave is entrusted to the sound discretion of the districk Ep(citations
omitted). As already discussed, Plaintiflid not come forward with any evidence gbow, as he
claims, the “fundamental’ deficienciethat the OIG investigationuffered from As a result the
court did not need to consider whether the record presented a genuine disputerofii@icissue.
Accordingly, the courfinds thatPlaintiff's proposedsurreply is unnecessary.

3. Motionsto Supplement the Recoathd For Leave to File Certificate of
Authenticity of Records

Finally, Plaintiff's Motion to Supplement the Recaml Summary Judgment alsalenied.
That motion seeks to supplement the record with a “Backgrauwrestigation Report” prepared
by Superson relating to Gray's hiring as Deputy Chief of Palideaurel, Maryland. Pl.’s Mot.
to Supph at 1. As discussedbove the court finds that the events concerning Gray's termination
do not support Plaintiff's discrimination claimsAnd estimony fromSuperson would be simply
too far afield to be relevant. The court, therefore, denies Plaintféson to Supplement. It also,
accordingly, denieslaintiff’'s Motion for Leave to File Certificate of Authenticity of Records

which seeks testablishthe authenticity of Superson’s Report
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V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the court grants Defenddfdt®on for Summary Judgment.
The court deniePlaintiff’'s (1) Rule 56(d) Motion for Additional Discovery2) Motion for Leave
to File a Surreply (3) Motion to Supplement the Record on Summary Judgnaett (4) Motion
for Leave to File Certificate of Authenticity of Records of the Supersqomke

A separate order accompanies this Memorandum Opinion.

A

Dated: Septembe@8, 2016 Amit P a
Upited States District Judge
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